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  The story so far . . .




  ‘The world needs an organisation that can go into disaster zones and save lives, superfast,’ declared Colonel Mark Harrison. And he was a man who made things

  happen.




  It took him a year to get anyone to listen to his plan and then a further three years before his dream became reality. But when it did, he found himself leader of a team that could go into any

  emergency situation anywhere in the world and save lives. He called his team E-Force.




  E-Force is fronted by the six key members: Mark Harrison, Peter Sherringham, Stephanie Jacobs, Maiko Buchanan, Josh Thompson, and Tom Erickson, but they are backed up by 1300 others –

  techs, engineers, maintenance, medical and comms people. Their main base (Base One) is the tiny Pacific island of Tintara, a little under 2000 kilometres south-south-west of San Diego, but there

  are several other bases dotted around the globe at secret locations.




  Although Mark, Steph, Josh, Pete and Mai are at the sharp end of any mission, they could not operate without Tom, the team’s cyberguru. Wheelchair-bound after a childhood road accident, he

  is a world-class hacker and has an intimate relationship with the ‘seventh member’ of E-Force, Sybil, the world’s only quantum computer. Sybil operates all the E-Force systems

  from Tintara and is the computer nerve centre of the operation.




  During the team’s first mission, they were called in to rescue Senator Kyle Foreman who was trapped in a bombed-out building in Los Angeles. The team had not yet completed their training,

  but were catapulted into action regardless. Since that first operation, E-Force have conducted more than a dozen separate missions and become globally famous. The world now knows the faces of the

  team members, but the locations of Base One and the other E-Force hubs remain a closely guarded secret.




  It is now almost six months since E-Force’s first mission. The team have gained a great deal of experience since that excursion to rescue Senator Foreman. They are as ready as ever, and

  waiting for action.
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  The St Maria Nuclear Power Station, Paraguay,
15 May, 5.02 am




  ‘Sure as hell hope this ain’t no wild goose chase,’ Robbie Valentine said, swinging a length of electrical cable in his right hand.




  ‘I wouldn’t be too surprised, my friend,’ Mario Alves replied. ‘We’ve had two false alarms this week.’




  Valentine, an American night-shift tech, led the way along a low-ceilinged tunnel lined with heavy duty electrical cabling. After 20 metres the two men came to a hatch. It swung open onto a

  broader, higher tunnel. They could just about walk upright. At the end, they reached the main power conduit. Valentine dropped the cable to the floor and tapped in an alphanumeric to unlock the

  inspection cover. The metal door levered outwards and the tech shone a torch into the opening.




  At first, everything seemed fine, then Valentine noticed the copper contact on one of the main cables had slipped from its socket. He flicked off the power to the circuit and leaned forward to

  grasp the cable. As he stretched into the box of electronics, his right elbow nudged the main power switch he had just flicked off. For a second the switch hovered between ‘on’ and

  ‘off’, then slipped a centimetre downwards. Two hundred amps of electricity with a potential difference of 50,000 volts shot through the American’s body. It travelled the length

  of his spine in under a microsecond, frying his nervous system, killing him faster than a bullet through the brain. Valentine’s body flew out of the junction cupboard, through the air and

  landed in a smoking heap 5 metres along the tunnel. En route, the dead man knocked his partner off balance. Alves stumbled backwards over the electrical cabling Valentine had been carrying, and

  landed badly, his right arm fracturing under the weight of his body.
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  One hundred and 27 metres away from the charred remains of Robbie Valentine, the main operations room of the St Maria Nuclear Power Station was quiet. Of the three nightshift

  engineers on duty in Main Control, two had gone off for a coffee, leaving behind the new boy on the job, Fernando Guitica, who had only qualified from the University of Asunción a month

  earlier. The master controls were entirely automated and had a German-designed self-diagnosis backup system in case any faults occurred in the complex network of computers and electronics that

  monitored the power station. The job of the engineers was really just to babysit the machines, unless, that is, something went very badly wrong.




  At the precise moment technician Robbie Valentine was barbecued in the maintenance tunnels, Fernando Guitica was engrossed in a thrilling game of Mario Kart on his new DS. He failed to

  see the red warning light flashing on the electrical systems monitor. By unfortunate coincidence, the cable that Valentine and Alves were supposed to repair was a multifunction conduit. Its main

  purpose was to send electricity to a digital thermocouple that regulated the temperature of the main pumps keeping the reactor cores cooled with water. A subsidiary cable in the conduit powered the

  audio alarm systems for Main Control. So, as Guitica entered the final lap of a nail-biting race on the DS and moved up from third to second place, he was blissfully unaware the internal

  temperature of Pump Number 4 on the east side of the power station had already gone critical. As a consequence, the first warning he had that something very bad was happening was when the sound of

  a massive explosion reverberated through Main Control.




  The shock of the blast threw Guitica from his swivel chair. He went sprawling across the highly polished floor and only stopped when his head made contact with a leg of one of the computer

  cabinets. Dazed, he shook away the pain surging through his head and scrambled to his feet, searching for the nearest computer screen. What he saw sent a wave of panic through him. The monitor

  displayed a schematic of the power station, and he could see immediately a flashing red symbol. One of the four enormous pumps cooling the radioactive core had been obliterated.




  His body froze, his mind racing. There was an acid taste in his mouth and his right hand was clenched so hard his nails cut into the flesh of his palm. He span around as the other two engineers,

  Dominic Xanando and Kurt Fritzer, dashed into the room from the corridor, their faces ashen.




  ‘What the fuck’s happened?’ Fritzer screamed as he rushed over to the console. Guitica stepped aside as his boss surveyed the monitors, looking on dumbly as the man stabbed at

  a series of buttons. ‘Holy Mother of God!’ Fritzer exclaimed.




  A second loud explosion shook the room and instinctively the three men dived for the floor. Xanando got up, shoved Guitica aside and found Fritzer scanning the controls, his breath coming in

  loud gasps. ‘It’s going critical. Fuck! How can this happen? How come we had no warning?’




  ‘That’s what the techs were sent in for,’ Guitica managed to reply. ‘A fault in the cabling, they thought.’




  ‘This is in a different league, Guitica,’ Fritzer yelled, his face lathered in sweat. ‘We thought everything was okay, but the whole fucking warning system must’ve been

  down for hours. Christ . . . the station could go critical. It’d make Chernobyl look like a fart in a jacuzzi.’ He ran his hands through his hair and stared, slack-jawed, at the

  computer screen.




  Smoke began to rise from the console. ‘What the . . . ?’ Xanando began. Then came a fizzing sound followed by a brief flash of light from inside one of the monitors. All three men

  sprang back from the desk and a second later the computer screen died. They turned in unison as a grating sound came from the other side of the room and the main door slid shut. A red light above

  the door started to flash.




  ‘Containment,’ Fritzer announced. And they heard a heavy, lead-lined radiation door slam into place a few metres along the corridor. Without waiting a second, Fritzer ran over to a

  second computer console, stabbing at a red button – the emergency alarm. Before he had lifted his finger from the control they heard the alarms kick in outside Main Control. Their own audio

  systems were still down, but alarms on a different circuit were blasting out around the station. In all main corridors, containment doors were slamming down, secondary coolant surged through pipes

  around the massive pumps and through backup tubing around the gigantic coils of the pumps. But the damage to the reactor had already been done. There was nothing they could do . . . except

  pray.
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  6.52 am




  ‘Pete? What’s your ETA?’




  Tom Erickson’s voice resonated in the tiny speakers positioned close to Peter Sherringham’s ears. He flicked his gaze to one corner of the holographic image in his headset.

  ‘Three minutes, 10 seconds, Tom.’




  ‘Copy that.’




  Pete ran his fingers over the plastic control panel in the cockpit of the Silverback jet, George, and the plane ascended 400 metres on a sharp incline. At Mach 10, it covered the distance

  in a fraction of a second. Glancing back at the holoscreen, Pete could see two traces – two planes behind him – another Silverback piloted by Mai Buchanan, and the larger bulk of the

  Big Mac, the E-Force workhorse, with Stephanie Jacobs and Josh Thompson aboard.




  ‘Okay, guys.’ It was Mark Harrison, the team leader, speaking from where he stood next to Tom in Cyber Control at the E-Force base on Tintara Island. His voice could be heard by all

  four E-Force members in the three planes. ‘As we have a few minutes before you reach the target, I’d like to bring you up to speed. The BigEyes tell us the situation at St Maria is

  deteriorating fast.’ A schematic of the plant appeared on the team’s holoscreens. ‘As you know, Pump Number 4 blew. We’re not sure how or why. The engineers on site are

  unable to increase the flow of coolant to the core. Coolant is getting through from secondary backup systems, but it’s way too little, too late. The core housing has ruptured and the outer

  casing of the reactor itself is exposed. There’s been a very small radiation leak from this, but it also means we have a way of cooling the thing externally.’




  Tom broke in. ‘The quencher tanks are on “max”, Steph. That means you have 50,000 litres of Quenchex to smother the flames. You then have a further 20,000 litres of liquid

  nitrogen to dump on the core itself. As you can imagine, you only have a small margin of error. Miss the flames and the liquid nitrogen will be ineffectual. Putting the fire out is only half the

  job, so both drops have to be within a metre of the target.’




  ‘So, no pressure then,’ Steph, in the Big Mac, laughed. ‘How long do we have?’




  ‘Tom reckons we have nine minutes until the reactor blows.’




  ‘Wonderful!’ Josh said. ‘Our ETA is six minutes 35, so we’ll have no more than two and a half minutes to get the core temperature down.’




  ‘I know,’ Mark responded. ‘Mai and Pete, you should be there a few minutes ahead of the Big Mac. You have to get a clear picture of the critical drop areas. Use the full

  spectrum analysers that’ve just been installed. Here’s a schematic of the plant.’




  A 3D image of the St Maria Nuclear Power Plant appeared on the Silverback holoscreens. Tom described the layout. As he spoke, the image shifted perspective and different parts of it became

  enlarged to show more detail.




  ‘There’re four pumps,’ he explained. ‘In most reactors, failure in one or even two of the pumps would be manageable, but this place is old. In fact, it was due to be

  decommissioned a year ago, but the Paraguayans managed to push it back. All four pumps need to be working at a constant 80 per cent plus efficiency rate to maintain stability for the core. Pump 4

  has vaporised and the core temperature has risen rapidly. I can’t understand how it was left to get so bad. The warning systems must’ve also been offline. Anyway, the explosion has done

  us one favour. It just fell short of ripping open the reactor core itself, but it’s exposed the housing. This is the primary drop area. There’s a serious fire raging all around the Pump

  4 module, but there’s also a very hot fire all over the core housing.’




  ‘How hot?’ Josh asked.




  ‘It’s a chemical fire, outdated insulation and piping material. We’re looking at 6000 degrees in places.’




  Josh whistled.




  ‘And that, my friend, is why we only have . . .’ Tom paused for a second, ‘seven minutes 50 to put out the fire.’
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  Pete swooped low in the Silverback. Turning a tight circle 300 metres above the gutted building, he could see the extent of the damage. The power plant consisted of a square

  concrete block, six storeys high. Next to this, on the eastern side, stood a stumpy cylinder with a domed roof – the reactor itself. The entire east side of the main building had been ripped

  away by the explosion and a great tear was visible in the dome covering the reactor.




  As Pete banked around, Mai came into view aboard the Silverback, John.




  ‘Looks so much worse in reality,’ Mai commented through her comms.




  ‘Yep,’ Pete replied. ‘I’m running the spectroscopic analysis now.’ A moment later, the information appeared on his holoscreen. It was a multicoloured image showing

  the thermionic conditions 2000 metres below the plane, highlighting the hottest parts in red and running through the spectrum to the cooler green regions. The same images appeared on the big screen

  on the wall of Cyber Control on Tintara, some 10,000 kilometres away. Tom’s voice came over the comms.




  ‘Josh, Steph. We have the images from the ground.’ He sent them over to their holoscreen. ‘The real hot zone is at grid reference 21.456 by 33.788. You copy that?’




  ‘Copy,’ Steph replied.




  ‘There it is,’ Josh said through the comms. ‘We have a visual.’




  The Big Mac was a gigantic machine, a heavy plane. But for all its size, it could be thrown around like a conventional fighter plane. It dropped 3000 metres in a few seconds and made a

  preparatory approach over the burning reactor.




  ‘Three minutes nine seconds, guys,’ Tom said over the comms.




  The Silverbacks took up a holding pattern hovering 7000 metres above the nuclear power plant. Pete and Mai could both see the massive disc shape of the Big Mac below. It was turning, getting

  ready for the first drop.




  Banking around to the west, Steph brought the plane down to 700 metres above the building. From this height they could see, unaided, the tangled metal and charred plastic. Intense purple and

  blue flames rose 20 metres above the reactor casing. Things would have been easier if the Big Mac could have been put into a hover position over the burned-out reactor, but it was too hazardous.

  Instead, they had to swoop in and get out quickly. Two seconds before they came overhead, the onboard computer systems set the drop sequence in motion and with an accuracy of one hundredth of a

  second, 50,000 litres of Quenchex sprayed from the underside of the Big Mac. Two sheets of white liquid cascaded down onto the wreckage.




  Quenchex was a new material invented by the eggheads at CARPA, the organisation that supplied E-Force with all its hi-tech equipment. It put out fires at least a hundred times faster than any

  conventional methods. The material landed in a coating several metres square. Spattering onto the superheated metal of the reactor, it instantly sent a grey mist hundreds of metres into the air.

  The Big Mac banked around and prepared for the second run to drop the liquid nitrogen that would cool the reactor.




  ‘Nice one, guys,’ Tom’s voice came through the comms. ‘Direct hit.’




  Steph and Josh could see through the windows that almost all the flames had been quenched. A few small fires continued to burn at the periphery of the drop site, but these were far enough away

  from the reactor to present little danger.




  ‘We’re prepping the liquid nitrogen,’ Josh said.




  ‘Advise using half on the first run, just in case.’




  ‘How long do we have?’




  ‘One minute 40 seconds. Sybil reckons you can do two runs with a 45 second margin.’




  ‘All right, we’re going in.’




  The Big Mac came around from the west again and the automated systems on board calculated the precise moment to release the chemical payload. Liquid nitrogen, cooled to 50 Kelvin, well below its

  vaporisation point, streamed out from underneath the mammoth aircraft, dropped the 650 metres to the devastated building and smothered the reactor housing.




  Stephanie pulled the plane up and around, racing to prepare for the final run.




  ‘How’d it go?’ Josh asked.




  ‘Just getting data,’ Tom responded. ‘Goddamn it!’




  ‘What?’




  ‘It’s only lowered the temperature of the core casing by a couple of hundred degrees.’




  ‘We’re ready for the second run,’ Steph announced.




  Mark Harrison’s voice broke in. ‘Hold, Steph. Repeat. Hold.’




  ‘But time’s running up,’ Josh blurted out.




  ‘Just a second.’




  ‘We have a problem,’ Tom said. There was an unnatural silence over the comms. ‘The rip in the roof is too small. The liquid nitrogen only covered about a quarter of the core

  housing. It’s not enough.’




  ‘You want us to go lower? Swivel the emission jets to get under the remaining roof?’ Steph asked.




  ‘No. Won’t work.’




  ‘Pete? Mai?’ Mark called through the comms. ‘Who’s closest to the building right now?’




  ‘I am,’ Pete said immediately.




  ‘Right. I want you to get down to 80 metres above the roof. Use the onboard laser cutters to open up the roof. Get the hell out the instant you have it ripped. Steph, Josh, you need to be

  a few seconds behind the Silverback and drop the remaining liquid nitrogen into the gap. You got that?’




  ‘Loud and clear,’ Pete responded as he banked the Silverback and plunged towards the earth at incredible speed.




  ‘Steph, Josh,’ Tom said. ‘You’ll need to shift the drop site 10 metres north, 6 west.’




  ‘Affirmative,’ Josh replied, and set the controls.




  Timing was critical. They had only a couple of seconds between Pete cutting the roof away and the Big Mac coming down for the drop. Then, in the remaining 20 seconds, both planes had to get as

  far away from the site as possible.




  The Big Mac started to make its run. Steph and Josh could see Pete had taken up position ahead of them, extremely low over the flames. From their angle it looked perilous – the flames

  seemed to be lapping at the underside of the sleek plane. An intense blue beam shot out from the front of the Silverback, a neodymium yttrium-aluminium-garnet (Nd-YAG) laser that could cut through

  several metres of lead-lined steel and concrete like a hot knife through butter. The laser made contact with the remains of the dome covering the reactor, and the outer shell dissolved, exposing

  the metal framework beneath. The steel beams crumbled like heated sugar.




  One glance told Pete the roof had been split open, and he engaged the forward thrusters. At that precise moment, the Big Mac came in 600 metres overhead and dropped its payload of liquid

  nitrogen. Pete banked hard, but before he could pull up and shoot off to the east, a geyser of superheated vapour from the reactor housing shot up, cascaded onto the wing of the Silverback, and was

  sucked into the starboard engine.




  The plane rolled 360 degrees. Pete could see the Big Mac high overhead swooping away in the direction he had planned to go. With lightning reflexes, his hands flew over the control panel,

  stabilising the plane into horizontal flight. Then he pulled George around, bringing the nose up. He felt a jolt. The 3D schematic of the plane in his visor showed a malfunction in the

  starboard engine. A red icon started to flash. The starboard engine exploded and the wing vaporised. The Silverback went into a tailspin. Fighting the controls, Pete tried to bring back the

  stricken plane, but it was hopeless. He pushed the eject button, heard the canopy of the Silverback rip away and felt himself thrust upwards into the morning sky. In that moment, Pete Sherringham

  knew it was too late.
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  New York City, six weeks later




  On days like today, Madame Zavarelli really hated her job. She knew she was devoid of any real talent. So different to Grandmamma back home in Casoria. She would never

  forget how the old woman terrified her with her prophesies. There was the time the old man in the village suddenly dropped dead the day after Grandmamma said he would. And then there had been the

  incident with Maria Bellini’s dog. That had been horrible. But no, Madame Zavarelli told herself for perhaps the thousandth time, she did not have ‘the gift’ – although that

  hadn’t stopped her. The sad truth was, she had no real talent for anything. If she hadn’t become a palm reader in a travelling circus, she would have been forced to sell her body. She

  didn’t even have the looks to snare a decent husband.




  Most of the time, things were okay. She made a respectable living, got to see places, had a few good friends and she had long ago accepted the fact that she was merely a performance artist. She

  had no qualms about it – it was a job. But today she felt uncomfortable and she had no idea why.




  Drawing on an illicit cigarette – her employer would have dropped her like a hot potato if he had caught her – Madame Zavarelli saw the flap over the tent entrance twitch. She

  stubbed out the cigarette and hid the evidence, as a tall, thin, elegantly dressed man in his thirties appeared. He was extremely good looking with carefully sculpted eyebrows, big brown eyes and

  fashionably tousled black hair. Too handsome to be straight, Madame Zavarelli concluded immediately.




  ‘Good afternoon, young man,’ she said, fixing him with her piercing black eyes. Her voice was heavily accented. ‘You wish to know the secrets of your future?’




  The man nodded.




  ‘What is your name?’




  He told her.




  ‘Well, Jim Kemple, my standard consultation fee is thirty dollars,’ Madame Zavarelli said. ‘But you’re my first customer in New York, so I will charge you only

  twenty.’




  Jim had been walking through Central Park and had noticed Rinaldo’s Circus tents. By serendipity, he had only that morning read an article in the New York Times about

  Rinaldo’s, one of the few remaining old-school circuses playing the nostalgia ticket. Jim had almost walked straight past a sign carrying the picture of an elderly woman in gypsy headdress

  staring meaningfully into a large crystal ball. Inside the orb, strange ghostly shapes were frozen, mid-swirl. Over the picture was written: ‘MADAME ZAVARELLI – CLAIRVOYANT AND FORTUNE

  TELLER. BE ASTOUNDED!’




  Jim pulled out his wallet and handed over a couple of bills. ‘Believe,’ he told himself. He did believe in clairvoyance and prophesy, but he was also aware that most ‘Madame

  Zavarellis’ were little more than vaudeville acts.




  ‘Sit,’ the woman said, and indicated a chair on one side of a small folding table. The table was covered with a purple velvet cloth, and in the centre sat a crystal ball on a wooden

  stand. Madame Zavarelli lowered herself into a chair across from Jim and indicated he should place his hands on the table, palms up.




  The old woman took his hands in each of hers and peered down at the lines and furrows in his skin. ‘You are a happy man,’ she said without looking up at Jim. ‘You are balanced.

  You enjoy your work and your love life is good.’ She looked at him, then back down at the hands. She ran a finger along the hollow of Jim’s left palm. ‘Your health is also good.

  But, you have a bad left knee, yes?’




  Jim was startled. He had indeed been suffering from cartilage problems in his left knee. ‘Yes,’ he said. ‘That’s right. How . . . ?’




  ‘Sssh,’ Madame Zavarelli said. ‘You are worried though. What are you worried about?’ She traced a finger along a line close to Jim’s wrist. ‘Money? No,

  you’re fine there. Ah . . . your partner.’




  ‘Alfred?’




  ‘He is a lot older than you,’ Madame Zavarelli said.




  ‘Yes. He’s 60 . . .’




  ‘Ssh,’ Madame Zavarelli said again. She was on a roll. She had noticed Jim’s very slight limp as he entered the tent, spotted his Rolex and diamond ring. He was clearly

  wealthy. She had taken a punt on the man’s partner being older based on the guy’s old-fashioned name. Three out of three. ‘You are concerned about Alfred’s

  health.’




  ‘Erm . . .’ Jim hesitated wondering if he was going to be admonished again. ‘He has been unwell, tired . . . But?’




  ‘You must not worry, Jim. I think Alfred’s health will soon improve. You both need a holiday.’ And she smiled at him. ‘Now, let me consult the ball. Place your hands flat

  on the table and pull your chair close. That’s it, good.’




  Madame Zavarelli leaned in towards the crystal sphere, her eyes narrowing to slits. This was the part of the ‘performance’ she enjoyed the most. She could let her imagination run

  free, make up wonderful scenarios, weave a web of intrigue and mystery that must always be fun, always positive. The last thing anyone wanted was to leave her tent under a black cloud. Sometimes

  she really did see things in the crystal, images conjured up from the depths of her memory and her subconscious, images she could twist and distort to offer the punter a lively tale.




  ‘The mists are beginning to clear,’ she said, her voice ascending half an octave as she spoke. ‘Yes, yes. Goodness, yes, colours. Orange.’




  ‘Is that good?’




  ‘Yes, that is good. A fish. Many brightly coloured fish.’




  ‘You said I needed a holiday,’ Jim quipped.




  Madame Zavarelli ignored him. She felt odd suddenly. What was wrong? She was feeling strangely nervous. There was a tingling in the pit of her stomach. It rose up and rippled towards the base of

  her skull. Something was taking shape in the crystal, but she could not make it out. She could feel it, feel its darkness, its dull weight. She tried to look away, to break this weird connection,

  but she was held there, gripped by an invisible force.




  The blackness swirled and then she saw something unspeakable, indescribable . . . and froze. With a huge effort, Madame Zavarelli broke free and pushed herself back in the chair.




  ‘What’s wrong?’ Jim exclaimed.




  ‘Noth . . . nothing,’ the woman stuttered. She ran a hand across her forehead, it came up wet. She took a deep breath and brought herself under control. Forcing a thin smile, she

  said, ‘I’m sorry, young man. I feel a little sick. A headache, it’s nothing. Now, where was I?’




  Jim felt his momentary panic pass. Poor woman. She just had a cold or something, he told himself. ‘Fish,’ he said.




  ‘Ah yes.’ Looking back into the crystal ball, there was nothing to see but clear glass. ‘A holiday,’ Madame Zavarelli said breezily.




  Five minutes later, the old woman had ushered Jim Kemple out of her tent and made her farewells. Then she threw herself onto her sofa, trying desperately to stop shaking and to force out of her

  mind the terrible thing she had seen in the crystal. ‘That poor young man,’ she said aloud. ‘That poor young man.’
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  Jim Kemple had tried to put the whole thing out of his mind, but the more he thought about Madame Zavarelli, the more he worried about the way the old woman had behaved. At

  first, he had wanted to take her comments at face value. All was well, and she had merely felt suddenly sick. But maybe there was more to it than that? After all, she had been right about his knee,

  and about Alfred. Maybe she was for real. Maybe she really had seen something – something terrible.




  Walking along the path that led to Eighth Avenue, he almost turned back. He stopped on the gravel. Two cyclists passed him. He looked back towards the circus, now lost behind a line of trees,

  then carried on towards the road, forcing away unwelcome thoughts. He brought his partner Alfred to mind. Then he made himself think about work, and all the things he had to do today. Jim had one

  of the finest collections of occult books in Manhattan. At 35, he was the most respected arcane book dealer on the East Coast. The little shop he had set up with Alfred in the East Village was a

  Mecca for anyone interested in any alt-culture subject, from trepanning to alien abduction. Jim’s particular obsession was Atlantis, and the concept of advanced civilisations existing before

  the dawn of recorded history. He had collected over 200 books on the subject including some very rare and very valuable ancient screeds. His most treasured possession was an early copy of

  Plato’s dialogues Timaeus and Critias, originally written during the 4th century BC, in which the Greek philosopher made the first known reference to the mythical land of Atlantis.




  It was all a long way from the days, almost 20 years earlier, when he had moved to New York. Stepping off the Greyhound from Avon, Illinois (population 915), he had arrived in the Big Apple for

  the first time as an impressionable 18-year-old literature student. Although he had quickly fallen in love with his adopted city, the Mid-West boy remained buried below many layers of

  sophistication and education. He had hated Avon, not least for its homophobia. But for all the romance of his first five years in the city – the parties, the clubs, an endless stream of guys

  – he considered that life had really only begun when he first met Alfred. They had clicked instantly and had remained inseparable.




  Back at the apartment on West Sixty-fifth, Jim turned the key in the lock and opened the front door. It was quiet in the apartment. Prada, the cat, brushed himself against Jim’s calves and

  he crouched down to stroke him.




  Alfred was sitting, sound asleep, in front of the TV. Jim crept towards him, looking down at his partner’s soft features. ‘You’re suddenly an old man,’ he thought to

  himself. Despite the age difference, Alfred had always been a catch. Virile. Fit. ‘What has happened to you, Alfred? What’s wrong?’ he thought.




  Alfred stirred suddenly. He opened his eyes, and for a moment he seemed to be in a different world, then he smiled. Jim flicked off the TV and sat in the chair next to his partner.




  ‘Hey, Jim,’ Alfred said, now fully awake and his face alight with excitement. ‘You won’t believe what arrived in the post.’




  Jim pulled off his coat, placed it over the chair and sat back down. ‘Must be exciting,’ he said. ‘I haven’t seen you this happy in ages.’




  ‘Just look,’ Alfred said and handed Jim an envelope. ‘Isn’t that fantastic?’




  Jim said nothing for a moment. He read the note through again, hardly believing his eyes. It was an invitation. It said: ‘You are invited to attend the star-studded Grand Opening of The

  Neptune Hotel, Fiji.’




  ‘That’s in eight days time,’ Jim said, his excitement matching his partner’s. ‘Wow! But how come?’




  ‘I didn’t tell you. It was a shareholder’s lottery. I put us in for it months ago. Forgot all about it. And we only have a few hundred shares. Can you believe that?’




  ‘Amazing,’ Jim said. ‘We need a holiday.’
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  Hollywood, the same day




  Danny Preston sat in his agent’s office and waited for the secretary to place the cup of peppermint tea he had requested on the desk. The secretary smiled politely

  and crossed the vast expanse of carpet that stretched from desk to door.




  Danny felt jumpy this morning, but he couldn’t quite put a finger on why. At 71, he was still fit and still working. His skin was deeply tanned, almost as though it were a continuous brown

  tattoo covering him from hairline to toe tips. He had worn the same style of suit for 50 years, made by his favourite Savile Row tailor, and the waist measurement hadn’t changed in 25 years.

  He had the same hairstyle he had when he was 35 and in his heyday. It was coloured fortnightly now, at Rick’s on Rodeo Drive, but that was a mere detail. His personal trainer, Stanley, had

  assured him only this morning that he would live to be at least a hundred.




  Sure, he had sacrificed much to reach the peaks he had scaled. His three marriages had followed roughly the same arc – infatuation, then a brief stability, followed by rapid

  disintegration. Three of his four children had claimed publically that they hardly knew him, and Tabitha, his favourite, had died of breast cancer at 29, only five years ago. But it was none of

  these things that troubled him today. He still had self-assurance in bucket loads. He had once been the highest paid, most successful actor in Hollywood. He could no longer command big bucks and he

  had not had a lead in a movie for over a decade, but that didn’t matter a jot. He knew he was the best, knew he was one of the immortals. He was idolised by generations who had seen him

  evolve through bit parts to three Oscar nominations, and then on to the lofty heights of celluloid elder statesman. He was happy with that. Most importantly though, he was on the cusp of a career

  renaissance. Only a week before, he had agreed to work with Sigmund Dunning, the hotshot British director behind Dreamworks’ new half billion dollar epic, The Old Testament, for which

  Danny had been offered the plum role of Moses. So what the hell was eating him up?




  ‘What you got for me then, Charlie? You look like your fucking house just burned down.’




  Charlie Hudson, self-styled ‘über-agent’, looked uncharacteristically grave. Danny Preston felt his stomach knot and realised what had been disturbing him. In the twelve years

  he had worked with Charlie, Danny had never once been asked to come into the office on Wilshire at an hour’s notice.




  ‘I would’ve come over to you,’ Charlie Hudson said, his voice the free-rolling and languid Californian that Danny had always hated. ‘But it’s already turning into a

  bastard of a day.’




  Danny said nothing and waited. Part of him knew what was coming.




  ‘Okay, I’ll cut to the chase, Danny. Dreamworks have pulled Dunning.’




  The two men stared at each other, expressionless, across the table. Finally, Hudson said, ‘They’re replacing him with Simon Blackburn.’




  ‘Oh fuck.’




  ‘Yep.’




  ‘Well that’s that then. That bastard queer hates me.’




  Hudson was nodding, letting Danny have the floor.




  ‘This is a disaster, Charlie, a disaster.’




  More nodding. ‘I know,’ Hudson managed.




  Danny Preston looked away through the 10 metre high windows, out to blue sky, chrome and concrete. This never happened in my day, he thought to himself. Never. No one would have dared

  dump the real directors, the men who had made Hollywood what it was. Who would have had the nerve to squash John Huston or David Lean like a beetle? No one. Now, some little shit in a Dolce and

  Gabbana suit could command ridiculous budgets and believe they were Eisenstein.




  ‘So what you going to do about it, Charlie?’




  ‘Danny, my hands are tied.’ The agent put his wrists together on the desk to emphasise the point.




  ‘Oh, don’t give me that crap.’




  ‘Dreamworks have offered a generous compensation package.’




  Danny Preston was shaking his head. ‘The money is irrelevant, Charlie. You know that.’




  ‘I know, I know.’ Hudson had his hands up now. He pushed his chair back, folded his arms and looked out to the view Danny had been gazing upon a few moments earlier. A commercial jet

  swung behind a tower block and started dipping sharply towards LAX, glinting as it caught the morning sun.




  ‘Do you want me to call Blackburn? Sound the guy out?’




  Danny waved a hand dismissively at his agent. ‘No, I don’t Charlie. God, I would have thought you had more pride than that.’




  The agent bridled. ‘I was thinking of you.’




  ‘Yeah, I know. Apologies. I’m just so damn angry. Is there anything we can do to get Blackburn out of the deal? Okay, we probably couldn’t get Dunning back in, but . . . stupid

  bastard must’ve really pissed someone off. Is there anyone else?’




  Charlie Hudson was shaking his head. ‘Don’t you think I thought of that, Danny? I heard first thing this morning and I’ve been on the phone ever since.’




  Hudson could hear the older man’s breathing. Beneath the surface, he was quietly pleased with the morning’s news. He had every respect for Danny – they went back a long way,

  the actor had been best pals with his father, Jack Hudson, who had founded the agency. But he could not let sentimentality cloud the fact that he knew Danny Preston was way over the hill. So far

  over the hill, he was outta sight. The man had once been a fine actor, but those days had gone and Hudson had been secretly worried that Danny would be fired from the job or turn in a horrible

  performance and embarrass himself. This way was better, cleaner, and the old boy would never know how his agent felt.




  ‘So, what do we do now?’ Danny asked and fixed the agent with tired eyes. ‘Please tell me there’s something else. Some good news would go down very nicely right

  now.’




  ‘Well actually,’ Hudson said, his face brightening. ‘One thing has just come up. It’s a bit wacky, but . . .’
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  O2 Arena, London, the same day




  Wearing a flowing silk top over black satin pants, and thigh-high boots with 10-centimetre heels, Kristy Sunshine stood still, arms in the air, as a lemon spotlight swept

  jagged patterns across the huge video screens dominating the back of the stage. Twenty thousand voices screamed in unison, the sound deafening. Waving to the adoring ocean of humanity, her band

  bowed and trooped off, stage left.




  ‘Thank you, London. I love you!’ the girl shouted, and waved one last time. Then she was gone.




  ‘Kristy, honey, that was . . . man, I’m lost for words!’ Kristy Sunshine’s manager Brett Littleton, towel held out for his protégé, made to hug her but saw

  the expression on her face and thought better of it.




  Ignoring him completely, she snatched the towel and whirled on her lighting tech, Jenny Svetzel, standing to Littleton’s left. The singer’s face was like thunder. ‘What the

  hell were you doing in the last number?’ she screamed. Two of the band standing close by melted into the shadows, and the hangers-on milling around Kristy fell silent. Out in the auditorium,

  the crowd was still braying for more.




  Jenny Svetzel was nonplussed. ‘What?’




  ‘You had the yellow beam on me, not the blue, you retard!’




  ‘Kris . . .’ Littleton began.




  ‘Shut the fuck up, Brett,’ Kristy Sunshine yelled. Turning back to the hapless lighting tech, the pop star bellowed, ‘That’s the last time I put up with that shit!

  You’re fired. Get out of my sight or I’ll call security.’




  Jenny Svetzel turned pale and stepped back as Kristy charged past, almost knocking the woman off her feet.




  ‘And get me a decent towel,’ she hissed, flinging the 200-dollar piece of Egyptian cotton to the floor.




  No one approached Kristy as she stomped away from the backstage area towards a long corridor leading to her dressing room. Some of her entourage knew her better than others. They knew this

  behaviour was nothing unusual immediately after a show – that the adrenalin of the gig couldn’t be drained away straight off, that Kristy was a ball of energy when the lights went up

  and she had to decompress. But even her most loyal friends knew the singer was also a spoilt brat with an over-inflated sense of her own worth. Fame and fortune had come easily to Kristy, and she

  was far too young to deal with it. She had very quickly come to believe she could do no wrong, that everyone around her belonged to an inferior class of human being. She had yes-men catering to her

  every whim. All she had to do was keep singing and keep looking pretty. There was only one person to whom she deferred. Only one person who could tell her what to do.




  Reaching the door to her suite of dressing rooms, Kristy began to calm down. She took deep breaths, letting the tension flow out of her as her Pilates instructor had taught her. Inside, the room

  smelled of jasmine and her private spa had been prepared. Brett Littleton followed her into the room, closed the door and pointed to a coffee table. ‘Everything’s arranged,

  Kris.’




  She silently perused the items on the table. A bottle of vintage Krug, a tray of handmade Belgian chocolates on a silver platter and three lines of the best Bolivian cocaine. Neither Kristy nor

  Littleton had noticed they had company until they heard a brief cough.




  Kristy turned and saw her uncle, Freddy Tomenzano, sitting in a leather chair on the other side of the table. ‘Nice show, Kristy,’ he said, his voice like hot gravel.




  She produced a vague smile. ‘Thanks.’




  ‘Brett? Could you leave us for a moment? I need to have a word with my niece.’




  Brett shot Kristy a quick, questioning look. She nodded and he left.




  ‘What is it, Freddy?’




  The man looked at her, his face totally devoid of expression. He was a small man in a dark, sharply tailored suit, crisp white shirt and red tie. With slicked-back black hair and finely

  chiselled cheekbones, he looked like the CEO of a multinational or a financial minister from a small European state. He was, though, one of the most powerful men in the entertainment world, a

  feared agent and Svengali. He had made Kristy a global star. Other singers – the likes of Bethany Shakespeare and Mary Casey – were snapping at her heels, but thanks to Freddy’s

  business genius and ruthless scheming, Kristy was staying top of the pile. And, as much as Kristy hated to accept the fact, her uncle was the only person in the world who could pull her strings and

  make her dance.




  ‘You seem a little defensive, my dear.’




  ‘I’ve just come off stage.’




  Freddy nodded sagely. ‘Yes, I apologise. I meant it when I said it was a nice show.’




  ‘Thanks again. But what do you want, uncle?’




  ‘Okay, you obviously have pressing matters to attend to,’ he said, eyeing the goodies laid out on the table with a contemptuous half-smile. ‘I’ll come straight to the

  point . . . the Neptune gig.’




  ‘The what?’




  ‘The opening of the Neptune Hotel? Remember? You weren’t keen. We agreed to disagree and you said you would give it some thought. I said, you have a week, honey. The week is

  up.’




  Kristy threw herself into a chair and let out a weary sigh. ‘You’re not going to let this one go, are you, uncle?’




  ‘Er, no,’ Freddy replied sarcastically.




  Kristy was silent for a moment, staring at the ceiling, her jaw clenched. ‘I told you I don’t want to do it. It sounds creepy.’




  ‘They’re offering a million dollars for three songs, Kristy.’




  ‘So?’ She could sense him looking at her. She hated his icy stare, but somehow she found the will to ignore him.




  ‘It’s not so much the money. It’s going to be a big media event. Don’t you get that?’




  ‘I get it. I just don’t want to do it.’




  ‘Why?’




  ‘I told you. It sounds creepy.’




  He was staring at her again and this time she couldn’t fight it. She turned away from the ceiling and met his gaze.




  ‘I have the contracts in my bag,’ Freddy persisted.




  ‘When is the gig?’




  ‘Next Wednesday. You really weren’t paying attention, were you, Kristy?’




  She let her gaze fall on the items spread out on the table and started to feel angry. She resented this. She had just performed in front of 20,000 people, and put on a fabulous show. She

  deserved her rewards. For a second, she considered simply giving in to her uncle, doing whatever he asked to get him out of the place. Then she could have some fun. Wasn’t that what she had

  always done? But then a new voice butted in, a voice of defiance. She stood up. ‘I need more time,’ she said.




  ‘Not possible,’ Freddy said quietly. ‘I’ve promised the promoters I would have an answer for them tonight.’




  ‘In that case I’m saying no.’




  Freddie held her with his intense, dark eyes. They sent chills down her spine. She had heard all the stories, of course. About how Freddy had killed at least one man, about his Mafia

  connections, and the sort of people he employed to ensure he got his way. Her own father, Vincent, Freddy’s brother, had been terrified of him. Vincent had not wanted his only daughter to go

  into the entertainment business, but then he had gotten himself killed in a motorcycling accident on the Ventura Freeway. By that time, Kristy had developed an untameable desire for fame. She had

  won singing competitions and had begun to get noticed, and Freddy had become involved. After that, she had never looked back.




  ‘I’m not doing it,’ Kristy added, surprising herself.




  Freddy stood up. He was at least 8 centimetres shorter than his niece. ‘Very well,’ he said. Bending down, he picked up a metal attaché case and turned towards the door.

  Kristy stood rigid, watching him silently, barely able to believe she was going to get her way.




  Freddy stopped at the door, his tiny hand gripping the handle. Without turning, he said, ‘I’ll contact the promoters right away, my dear. They’ve let slip they have a backup.

  Apparently, Bethany Shakespeare is very keen to do it.’




  







  7




  Base One, Tintara Island, the same day




  ‘Rewind to 15.16 please, Sybil,’ Pete Sherringham said to the air. Sybil was the base computer, the world’s only quantum processor. It, or

  ‘she’ as the team liked to think of Sybil, was the nexus of a vast network that kept all the systems running smoothly at Base One, the command centre of E-Force.




  ‘Ready,’ Sybil replied.




  ‘Play.’




  Pete sat back in the leather chair in his quarters and watched the holoscreen on his laptop. With amazing clarity it showed the three-dimensional images he had seen at least 20 times before: a

  Silverback, the dark blue hull of George, six weeks earlier. The plane was swooping low over a burned-out shell of a building when suddenly the starboard wing was hit by something. The

  engine exploded and the aircraft nosedived. Then he saw himself, a tiny figure in a cybersuit, rocketing away from the cockpit in an ejector seat. But he was too low. The chair plummeted and the

  chute opened no more than 10 metres above the ground.




  Then the image changed to a different film sequence shot from a cybersuit helmet. The camera stabiliser technology worked well, but the person filming was running over rough terrain and the

  image wobbled slightly before the screen was filled with a man lying twisted on the floor. One severed leg dangled from a thread of suit fabric, the other was twisted and shattered under his

  body.




  ‘Stop, Sybil.’




  The screen flicked off and Pete suddenly felt the stillness of the room, the silence broken only by his own steady breathing. The doctors had offered him antidepressants, and Stephanie Jacobs,

  the team’s medical expert, had talked to him about the psychological impact of what had happened. But he had decided against taking the drugs. Right now though, he wondered if this had been a

  wise decision. Instead, he seemed to have developed an obsession with watching the accident over and over again. A part of him kept insisting that the more he saw it happen, the better he could

  assimilate the reality of it.




  The same thoughts kept going around inside his head. How on earth had he ended up in this position? A year ago he had put the action-hero life behind him. He had served his time in the British

  Army, given it eight years of his youth. He had faced death many times as a bomb disposal expert and had come through the first E-Force mission seven months earlier after surviving a powerful

  explosion that no one would have thought it possible to walk away from. Now, here he was, six weeks after another near-death experience.




  Using the most advanced surgical techniques on the planet, his body had been repaired. When they found him – unconscious, thankfully – he was as close to death as it was possible to

  be and still survive. Both his legs had been so badly damaged nothing other than E-Force technology could have saved them. As well, one arm had fractured in six places, he had a punctured lung, a

  skewered spleen and his heart had stopped. But somehow, the team’s medics had kept him alive and he had been placed in an induced coma for two weeks. In that time, he had undergone 15

  separate operations. All of those had been conducted by nanobots supervised by a medical group led by Stephanie Jacobs. The bots had repaired his internal organs and some of his bones. Tissue had

  been cloned from his own cells and blood vessels, and severed nerves had been knitted together by billions of bacteria-sized nanobots all working in unison.




  Following the surgery, he had gone through three weeks of intense physiotherapy while he adjusted to his new body. He had hated every minute of it. The therapy was repetitive, painful and

  boring, but Mark, Tom, Josh, Mai and Steph had been incredibly supportive. The lowest point had come when he had been forced to quell his natural impatience a week into physio. The team had been

  called out to avert a potential disaster when part of a subway in New York had caved in. Seeing the team live on the big screen in Cyber Control had given him a perspective he had never experienced

  before. Beside his chair were his crutches. He glanced over at Tom Erickson, the 20-year-old cyber genius confined to a wheelchair since childhood. Tom was at a nearby console, lost in

  concentration as he relayed detailed data to the Big Mac hovering over the East River. Tom had turned, seen Pete staring, and given him the thumbs up.




  It had made him feel terrible, adding to his depression. After a catastrophic accident, he was on the mend. He would soon be back in action, but a similar medical miracle was still a long way

  off for young Tom. He had talked about it with Steph – it was one of the first things to occur to him when she had explained what they had achieved in surgery. Sure, they could clone new

  tissue for Tom and they could reroute some of his nerves, but his spinal cord had been severed in the childhood accident that had led him being wheelchair bound and which had rendered his lower

  body useless. Even for the techno wizards at CARPA, fixing snapped spines was still some way in the future.




  The buzzer to Pete’s quarters sounded and he heard a voice on the intercom.




  ‘Hey, Pete, my man!’ It was Tom.




  ‘Let him in please, Sybil.’




  The door slid open and Tom wheeled in, seated in his motorised wheelchair. Walking beside him was Josh Thompson, the team’s tall, dark-haired encryption expert.




  ‘How you feeling?’




  ‘Fit as the proverbial fiddle,’ Pete replied, a trace of his Geordie accent just discernible in his voice. He stood up and did a little dance. ‘See.’




  ‘Promise me you’ll never dance like that again, Pete,’ Josh deadpanned.




  ‘So, you two here for a reason?’ Pete said, tilting his head slightly.




  ‘Tom wanted to show off.’




  ‘It’s not showing off. It’s passing on information,’ Tom retorted. ‘I’ve got the CyberLink to work.’




  ‘You have? That’s excellent.’




  ‘Thank you, thank you,’ Tom replied, nodding and twirling his hands in the air as though accepting applause.




  ‘What was it again?’ Pete asked.




  ‘Oh, for God’s sake, dude.’ Tom sighed heavily. ‘I’ve been working on it for three months. It’s pure genius.’




  ‘Is this the gizmo that allows you to hook up with any computer and get inside it as though it were a real object?’




  ‘Super-hacking, dude. It’s called super-hacking. It’s . . .’




  ‘Even I know more about it than that,’ Josh interrupted, frowning at Pete.




  ‘All right, all right. So, it’s worked, yeah?’




  ‘Yes, it has worked, my friend. I just had a quick stroll around the Pentagon’s mainframe. So cool.’




  ‘When you say stroll . . .’




  ‘Look, it’s like this. Every computer in the world has a virtual counterpart, or cyber twin, if you like. Think about it. On the web there’s every piece of information about

  any computer. The manufacturer has its design spec, the very components that went into making it, and their serial numbers are all online. We can find its IP address in a flash. We know who

  operates any given computer, where it is in the ”real” world. And naturally, every piece of software running on it and every piece of hardware attached to it.’




  ‘Yeah, but that’s a lot of information. Most of it irrelevant . . .’




  ‘No, nothing is irrelevant. Every jot of knowledge about a computer helps build the cyber twin.’




  ‘And Sybil does that?’




  ‘Of course. It would be impossible without a quantum computer.’




  ‘And a genius like you, Tom.’




  ‘Yes, well that goes without saying.’ Tom grinned.




  ‘So, you hacked into the Pentagon?’




  ‘Super-hacked, Pete. Learn the term, dude. There’s a big difference. No more machine code, no more finding passwords or breaking through firewalls. I just walked in, had a little

  nose around, got what I was after and left. Not a trace of a cyber footprint. No one knew I was ever there.’




  ‘Actually, that is pretty impressive,’ Pete admitted, looking at the young computer whiz with genuine admiration.




  ‘Yeah, and it would be even more impressive if it came with a little humility,’ Josh said and sat down.




  ‘I don’t believe in humility,’ Tom replied.




  ‘Obviously.’




  ‘What you got there?’ Pete asked noticing a rolled up magazine in Josh’s hand.




  Josh handed it to him and he opened it out.




  ‘Now that’s what I call fame,’ Tom said.




  It was a copy of Time. On the front cover was a picture of the six members of E-Force. Tom was in his chair at the front, and the others, wearing their cybersuits, stood or crouched

  around him, each staring at the camera with serious expressions. Over the picture it said: ‘MEET A NEW BREED OF HERO’.




  ‘Well, isn’t that something?’ Pete said and held the magazine at arm’s length.




  The picture had been taken just before the mission to the stricken nuclear power station. The journalist had not been allowed on Tintara, but the team had convened at the Beverly Hilton in Los

  Angeles, not too far from the site of their first mission together when they had rescued Senator Kyle Foreman in the bombed-out shell of the California Conference Center. Immediately after that

  first mission it was decided that E-Force would not behave like caped crusaders and try to hide their identities. Indeed, it was already too late for that. Their hi-tech equipment was concealed

  from photographers or anyone with a camcorder thanks to Camoflin, a special paint used to scramble any image taken. But the members of E-Force had all been seen by the public, their pictures taken,

  their identities known.




  Going public had been a major decision and it had repercussions. The original plan for the team was that they would each return to their normal lives after the initial three-month training

  period the year before. But they had quickly realised this would be impossible. For a start, they were needed far more often than they had originally believed. Hardly a week went by when they were

  not called out. And second, having their faces splashed all over the media immediately after the LA rescue mission meant that even if they had wanted to, they could hardly go back to their

  ‘normal’ daily lives.




  One or two of the team had secretly wondered whether this had been E-Force founder Mark Harrison’s intention all along. In the beginning, he had hand-picked the team based on their

  extraordinary abilities and adaptability, but he had also chosen people who were not in long-term relationships and whose lives or careers had stalled in some way. Each of them had been bitten by

  the E-Force bug, and none of them could have contemplated opting out.
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